THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM OCONEE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

J. Cordell Maddox, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2014-CP-37-00526
Appellate Case No. 2019-000614

Debi Baker Brookshire,

Appellant,

v.

Community First Bank and
Benjamin Hiott,

Defendants,

Of Which, Community First
Bank is

Respondent.

RECEIVED
JAN 22 2020
SC Court of Appeals

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Warren Blair Giese
SC Bar No. 2219
Kelly L. Giese
SC Bar No. 100089
THE GIESE LAW FIRM, LLC
1315 Blanding Street
Columbia, SC 29201

Jonathan D. Waller
SC Bar No. 76290
Waller Law Group
1116 Blanding Street, Suite 2B
Columbia, South Carolina 29201

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN APPLYING INCONSISTENT ANALYSIS OF THE APPLICABLE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS?
- II. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT APPELLANT'S CLAIMS ARE BARRED UNDER THE UNIFORM COMMERCIAL CODE?
- III. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT APPELLANT'S CLAIMS ARE BARRED BY THE POWER OF ATTORNEY SHE GRANTED TO DEFENDANT HIOTT, A SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT OF RESPONDENT?
- IV. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT S.C. CODE ANN. §15-3-110 DOES NOT APPLY TO THIS MATTER?
- V. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT NEITHER EQUITABLE TOLLING NOR EQUITABLE ESTOPPEL APPLY TO THIS MATTER?
- VI. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT RESPONDENT DID NOT OWE FIDUCIARY DUTIES TO APPELLANT?
- VII. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT RESPONDENT HAD NO DUTY TO EXERCISE REASONABLE CONTROL OVER ITS EMPLOYEE?
- VIII. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO RESPONDENT ON APPELLANT'S CAUSE OF ACTION FOR BREACH OF CONTRACT ACCOMPANIED BY A FRAUDULENT ACT?
- IX. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO RESPONDENT ON APPELLANT'S CAUSE OF ACTION FOR CONVERSION?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant filed a Summons and Complaint on September 8, 2014 alleging six (6) causes of action against the Respondent and Benjamin Hiott, including Breach of Fiduciary Duty, Conversion, Negligent Supervision, Negligence/Gross Negligence, Breach of Contract Accompanied by Fraudulent Act, and Accounting. Respondent timely filed an Answer and Counterclaim against Appellant alleging two (2) causes of action for Conversion and Unjust Enrichment. Appellant filed a timely reply to the counterclaims, wherein she raised, among other things, the statute of limitations as a defense to the Respondent's counterclaims.

Defendant Hiott filed a motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12, SCRPC on October 30, 2014. By Form 4 Order filed February 2, 2015 and formal Order filed February 25, 2015, the trial court denied Hiott's motion to dismiss. On October 13, 2016 and October 19, 2016 respectively, Respondent and Defendant Hiott each filed motions for summary judgment. A hearing was held December 13, 2016, where the matter was taken under advisement. On August 29, 2017 the court issued a Form 4 Order denying "all Motions for Summary Judgment." On September 8, 2017 the court issued a Form 4 Order replacing and superceding, in its entirety, the Form 4 Order issued on August 29, 2017, and denying Defendant Hiott's motion for summary judgment with a formal order to follow. The trial court issued an Order filed September 26, 2017 granting Respondent's motion for summary judgment and denying Defendant Hiott's motion for summary judgment. Appellant filed a timely Motion to Alter or Amend the Judgment Pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRPC on October 6, 2017. A hearing was held on Appellant's motion on December 6, 2017, where the matter was taken under advisement. On March 22, 2019 the court issued an Order Denying Appellant's Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment. On April 9, 2019 Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On May 25, 2007, Debi Baker Brookshire signed a Power of Attorney with Benjamin Lee Hiott. At the time, Defendant Hiott was a Senior Vice President of Community First Bank. A month later, all of the proceeds (\$1,171,823.58) from an established trust account at BB&T were transferred to Respondent, in what Appellant believed to be a Trust account (R. pp. 866 – 881, p. 916, line 19 - p. 917, line 22; p. 918, line 15 - p. 919, line 20; p. 920, lines 5-10, 17-21; p. 921, lines 7-11; p. 922, lines 3-14; p. 923, lines 3-7; p. 923, line 12 - p. 924, line 6; p. 925, lines 13-24; p. 926, lines 19-25; p. 927, lines 18-20; p. 928, line 1 - p. 929, line 4) operating in substantially the same manner as her trust at BB&T. At no time did any bank employee, including Hiott, ever inform Appellant that Respondent did not have a trust department or the legal authority to open or maintain a trust account. On the contrary, to Appellant, who's only knowledge of finances came from her own affairs, the account paperwork indicated that she was opening a trust with Respondent. (R. pp. 866 – 881). Less than one week after the account was opened, and unbeknownst to the Appellant, Defendant Hiott, acting supposedly under the Power of Attorney, but also acting within the scope and course of his employment and agency with Respondent, issued a \$500,000 cashier's check to a Joseph C. Crosby, an account and loan holder of Respondent. Neither Hiott, Appellant, nor the trust received anything of value in return for the "gift" of half a million dollars. From this point on, Defendant Hiott withdrew or transferred sums in excess of \$2,000,000 from Appellant's trust account in which Appellant received no benefit.

By reason of Defendant Hiott's position within the bank, he was able to manipulate account balances electronically, and often manipulated account balances by transferring assets from one account to another in order to avoid detection and to attempt to conceal his fraudulent

acts.¹ Respondent identified these transfers as “journal transfers.” In the years prior to 2007, Defendant Hiott, while acting in his capacity as a Senior Vice President of Respondent, began to manipulate and misappropriate both customer and bank funds. These misappropriations were not discovered by Respondent, due to its lack of internal controls and adherence to standard banking practice, until the allegations regarding Appellant’s accounts came to light. Respondent’s negligence and failure to operate in a manner consistent with banking industry standards, allowed Appellant to be the victim of a scheme that had begun with other accounts, specifically MPS, Inc., owned by three well known members of the bank and community – James McCoy (Chairman of the Board of Directors of both Respondent and its parent company); John Powell (Owner of Powell Real Estate); and Frederick D. Shepard, Jr. (President of Respondent and Defendant Hiott’s direct supervisor), more than two (2) years before Appellant’s money was transferred to the Respondent. (R. p. 884, line 14 - p. 886, line 18).

Respondent hired Palmetto Consulting Services (hereafter “PCS”) to conduct an investigation into irregular transactions in 2013, after repeated requests by Appellant’s counsel to explain the discrepancies in Appellant’s account. While researching Appellant’s account, PCS “became aware that other such ‘juggling’ entries had been made to the general ledger securities account prior to the initial opening of the Brookshire DDA account.” (R. pp. 887 – 910, 911 – 914). Defendant Hiott used the accounts of MPS Incorporated, which is comprised of MPS Golf, Inc. and MPS Development, Inc. and owned by Frederick D. Shepherd, Jr., James McCoy, and John Powell. Defendant Hiott, utilizing the exact same concealment scheme as with Appellant’s account, transferred \$1,665,898 of bank money to MPS Incorporated in

¹ Towards the end of the time Appellant’s account was open, Appellant requested monies be transferred from her account with Respondent to her BB&T checking account. In an effort to avoid detection, Defendant Hiott transferred money to Appellant’s account from other places, including from Respondent’s own accounts, as Appellant’s account was so depleted of funds.

which the three owners benefitted. (R. pp. 1046 - 1048). Moreover, using the exact same concealment scheme, Defendant Hiott transferred \$994,666 of Respondent's money to Joseph C. Crosby during the same time as Appellant's money was stolen. (R. pp. 1046 - 1048). Respondent did not discover either the MPS Incorporated misappropriations nor the Crosby misappropriations committed by Senior Vice President Hiott until the Brookshire investigation in 2013.

Appellant was not aware of receiving bank statements at any point in time while the account was open. (R. p. 916, line 19 - p. 917, line 22; p. 918, line 15 - p. 919, line 20; p. 920, lines 5-10, 17-21; p. 921, lines 7-11; p. 922, lines 3-14; p. 923, lines 3-7; p. 923, line 12 - p. 924, line 6; p. 925, lines 13-24; p. 926, lines 19-25; p. 927, lines 18-20; p. 928, line 1 - p. 929, line 4). At best, Appellant received the few statements discussed in Respondent's motion when Defendant Hiott returned an RV belonging to Appellant and her husband. (R. p. 934, lines 13-23). In fact, in early 2010, the bank statements began to read "Exclude - do not mail." According to Carol Wilson, from February 2010 until the closing of the account, these "excluded" and returned statements were placed in a box at the branch. (R. p. 937, lines 13-24). In fact, Appellant was not provided these specific statements until the morning of Mrs. Wilson's deposition on February 25, 2016. Moreover, Defendant Hiott had access to the mail and could have easily removed all statements from the mail, especially since he had power of attorney over Appellant's finances. Even if Appellant was receiving statements, these statements would not be reliable, nor would she have had a reason to question whether or not her money was being misappropriated (R. pp. 508 - 588), as Mr. Hiott engaged in a scheme to conceal the originating and ending location of fund transfers and also manipulated the dates that funds were shown to be transferred or were actually transferred. Further, because Defendant Hiott had a valid POA, further inquiry and detail of the nature of transactions would

be necessary to determine if any wrongdoing had taken place. All legitimate transfers to BB&T and other bills look exactly like the illegitimate transfers, as they are all marked as "miscellaneous debits" or "investment counter withdrawals" or "wire transfer." When counsel met with Jim Williams (of counsel for Respondent) and Jeff Griffith (employee for Respondent), Mr. Griffith explained the statements were marked this way because there are rules on how many transactions that can be completed per month with Trust Accounts. Respondent, during the course of this litigation, consistently maintained that the bank did not have a trust department or trust powers and that Mrs. Brookshire's account was NOT a trust account.

On August 23, 2010, Appellant, through counsel (Kathleen McDaniels), requested an accounting of the Trust assets from Respondent. On September 7, 2010, Defendant Hiott sent via facsimile to Appellant's attorney a purported "accounting." This "accounting" consisted of a generic list of amounts withdrawn from the Trust with no explanation of withdrawals, and with no accounting of the monthly deposits Appellant received from Baker & Baker. (R. pp. 945 - 948). Defendant Hiott further stated that Ms. Brookshire should have been in possession of the documentation related to the \$500,000 "annuity" and that it was concerning to him that she had not provided this information to Mrs. McDaniels. Unbeknownst to Mrs. McDaniels or Appellant, there was no documentation relating to any "annuity" because no annuity was ever purchased. On September 21, 2010, Appellant's attorney again requested a formal accounting of the Trust assets. (R, pp. 950 - 952). Mrs. McDaniels never received a formal accounting or other complete record of transactions from the account, including transaction details as requested.

Defendant Hiott, acting within the scope and course of his employment with Respondent, closed Appellant's Trust at some point between October 1, 2010 and October 19,

2010 without informing the Appellant of this action. He also failed to disclose that the Trust had a balance of zero. On October 19, 2010, Mrs. McDaniels sent a letter to Frederick D. Shepherd, Jr. (President of Respondent) and James E. McCoy (Chairman of the Respondent's Board), requesting assistance with Defendant Hiott in obtaining the requested documents, including a full accounting. On October 21, 2010, Defendant Hiott sent Appellant's counsel a letter stating that he had set aside money for Appellant's two children and would be glad to send documentation reflecting the whereabouts of this money. (R. p. 947). Appellant has since learned that these documents do not exist. On December 1, 2010, Mrs. McDaniels and Mr. Williams spoke on the phone. Mr. Williams advised that he would send a full accounting of the Appellant's Trust account. (R. p. 959). He never did. Moreover, at some point in Mrs. McDaniels' dealings with Respondent, either Defendant Hiott or Mr. Williams told her that the \$500,000 miscellaneous debit was used to purchase a Lafayette product single premium annuity. (R. p. 962, lines 1 - 16). This, of course, was false information and a direct effort by Defendant Hiott and Respondent to mislead the Appellant and to conceal their malfeasance.

On February 17, 2011, Mrs. McDaniels sent Mr. Williams a letter requesting that Mrs. Brookshire's account be closed and all of the funds delivered to Appellant's attorney. (R. p. 964). On February 22, 2010, Defendant Hiott, at all times acting within the scope and course of his employment and agency with Respondent, re-opened Appellant's Trust with one penny. Defendant Hiott, using his managerial position in Respondent, transferred \$285,233.34 from account number 117001 at Respondent bank, via journal entry, into the Trust. That same day Mrs. McDaniels closed the account and received a check in the above-referenced amount which allegedly represented all assets of the Trust. On March 11, 2011, Mrs. McDaniels notified counsel for Respondent that she no longer represented the Appellant and requested that he send the documents requested to Appellant at her home address. (R. p. 966). These

documents were never sent.

Appellant enlisted the help of Tabor Investigative Services to track down the paperwork associated with the \$500,000 miscellaneous debit. On November 27, 2012 Tabor Investigative Services phoned Carol Wilson, an employee of Respondent, and requested documents from Appellant's Trust account. Mrs. Wilson requested that a signed authorization of release be faxed to her for her review and that she would contact Tabor when she received the authorization. This authorization was sent the same day and as of the date this case was dismissed, Tabor Investigative Services has yet to receive a response to this request from anyone at Respondent. (R. pp. 968 - 970).

On March 19, 2013, Appellant, through current counsel, sent a letter to Defendant Hiott requesting an accounting of the Trust assets and a meeting. Copies of this letter were also sent to Frederick D. Shepherd, Jr., James E. McCoy, and Carol Wilson. (R. p. 972). Sometime between March 19, 2013 and May 7, 2013, Defendant Hiott telephoned counsel and represented that the \$500,000 transfer was put into two separate annuities for Appellant's two children and that the annuities were placed with Nationwide Insurance Agency. Nationwide Insurance has no annuities payable to Appellant or her children. This was yet another direct effort by Defendant Hiott and Respondent to mislead the Appellant. (R. pp. 974 - 975).

On May 7, 2013, Tabor Investigative Services and counsel met with Defendant Hiott. In this meeting Defendant Hiott informed Tabor and counsel that he wrote a check for \$500,000 to Mr. Holcombe of Holcombe Insurance Agency in Easley, South Carolina and that Mr. Holcombe used the funds to purchase two annuities in the names of Jordan Taylor Blackwell and Laura Ann Elizabeth Blackwell (Appellant's children) from Lafayette Insurance Company. Lafayette Insurance has no annuities payable to the Appellant or her children. Moreover, Defendant Hiott and Respondent failed to provide Appellant with a formal accounting of the

Trust. (R. pp. 974 – 975). Additionally, Defendant Hiott said he would not provide any documentation unless Appellant provided the following information: "account of amounts and purpose of Debi's withdrawals from her BB&T account(s); copy of her tax returns since 2009; copy of her DBS reports; and asked her to be drug tested." (R. p. 977).

On June 14, 2013, Appellant's counsel sent a letter to Mr. Williams, counsel for Respondent, informing him of the communications between counsel and Defendant Hiott and again requesting a formal accounting of the Trust. (R. pp. 974 – 975).

On July 18, 2013, Mr. Williams wrote to Appellant's counsel and he advised that Defendant Hiott indicated to him that the \$500,000 was removed from the Trust, with Appellant's consent and knowledge, for an investment with Joseph C. Crosby, Jr., and that the Appellant was provided a promissory note signed by Mr. Crosby and that Appellant was in possession of the note. Appellant does not and has never had a promissory note, nor had she ever heard of Mr. Crosby before this lawsuit, has never met him, and was never aware of this transaction. Respondent provided some documents related to the Trust but did not provide a formal and complete accounting, or a copy of the alleged promissory note. Mr. Crosby testified that he never signed a promissory note with Appellant. (R. p. 980). The bogus promissory note was just more false information provided by the Respondent and Defendant Hiott to the Appellant in order to delay any lawsuit.

On August 19, 2013, Appellant's counsel requested records of all deposits and the source of the deposits into the Trust, all documents related to any and all "miscellaneous debits" and "investment counter withdrawals," and all monthly bank statements from November 1, 2010 through February 22, 2011. (R. pp. 982 – 987). Having not heard from Respondent, Appellant sent a follow up letter on September 17, 2013. (R. p. 989). Again, not hearing anything from Respondent or counsel. Appellant sent another follow up letter on

October 17, 2013 re-requesting the documents listed in the two previous letters as well as a full accounting and an entire copy of the Trust file from the date of creation to date of termination. (R. pp. 991 – 997).

On December 17, 2013, Respondent provided the Appellant with the documents purportedly showing the activities in the Trust account. Donald Jones, with Palmetto Consulting, created 4 binders detailing the Appellant's Trust Account for Respondent. When Mr. Jones turned them over to Mr. Shepherd, Mr. Jones was able to account for all transactions in and out of the Trust. When transferring the 4 binders to Appellant's counsel, Mr. Williams and Mr. Griffith represented to Appellant's counsel that these were all of the documents associated with the Trust. This was in fact, not the case. Paperwork for over \$500,000 was purposefully withheld from the four (4) binders provided to the Appellant. Mr. Jones testified "Mr. Shepherd was responsible for what was put in the binders or not. He was asking me for, you know, data to copy to respond to you. I knew he was doing that. And Jeff Griffith was working with him but it appeared to me, from the conversation that was going on right outside my door, that Mr. Shepherd was deciding what to put in the binders and what not to, not Jeff." (R. p. 1000, line 5 – p. 1001, line 24).

Moreover, Appellant subpoenaed Palmetto Consulting's entire file with relation to this investigation. Over 40,000 pages of documents were produced. Within these pages were the 4 binders (in scanned format) that had previously been produced by Respondent to Appellant. Within these binders, the paperwork associated with the approximately \$500,000 missing transactions was indeed present. These pages were intentionally withheld from the Appellant. The transactions revealed within the 40,000 pages produced by Palmetto Consulting, many of which were intentionally withheld by Respondent despite Appellant's repeated attempts to obtain this information, include the following:

- \$310,510.75 juggling:
 - On 12/31/2007, \$310,510.75 went from Appellant's account into Respondent's account # 1002901 (Due From Bank - Banker's Bank).
 - On January 7, 2008, \$310,510.75 was transferred from account #1052201 (State County Muni Securities - AFS) into Appellant's account, causing Appellant to lose the use of and interest for a full week.
 - On March 31, 2008, \$310,510.75 was transferred from account 1029002 into account 1052201.
 - Respondent represented in their Responses to Appellant's 1st set of interrogatories that this \$310,510.75 transaction in Appellant's account was a "reverse transaction." According to Jeff Griffith's testimony, this transaction was not a reverse transaction and he "would call it juggling." (R. p. 1004, line 2 – p. 1005, line 16). When posed with the question, "that's not a reverse transaction is it," Don Jones testified, "It's a juggling—no. He's moving, hiding money from one place to the other, juggling." (R, p. 1008, line 2 – p. 1009, line 12)
 - This \$310,510.75 transaction was marked as "Tax" on Appellant's bank statement. (R. pp. 521 – 522).
- On 2/29/2008, \$8,500 was transferred from Appellant's account to Marc Hiott's (Defendant Hiott's brother) CFB account.
- On 3/13/2008, \$2,224 was transferred from Appellant's account to account 1222001 (Respondent's Miscellaneous Accounts Receivable). \$1,360 of this money was then transferred from Respondent's Miscellaneous Accounts Receivable into Ben Wilson's account at Respondent in exchange for some Respondent bank stock. Ben Wilson is the step-son of Fred Shepard, President of CFB. Fred Shepard's wife was also on this

account. (R. p. 1012, line 18 – p. 1013, line 25; p. 1016, line 21 – p. 1017, line 25).

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