THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM OCONEE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable J. Cordell Maddox, Jr., Circuit Court Judge  
Case No. 2014-CP-37-00526  
Appellate Case No. 2019-000614

Debi Baker Brookshire,

Appellant,

v.

Community First Bank, Inc. and  
Benjamin Hiott,

Defendants,

Of Which, Community First  
Bank, Inc. is

Respondent.

**RECEIVED**  
NOV 04 2019  
SC Court of Appeals

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

Robert Y. Knowlton, SC Bar No. 3589  
Elizabeth H. Black, SC Bar No. 76067  
HAYNSWORTH SINKLER BOYD, P.A.  
1201 Main Street, Suite 2200  
Post Office Box 11889 (29211-1889)  
Columbia, South Carolina 29201

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

### ARGUMENT

**A. Brookshire has failed to appropriately raise or preserve certain arguments.**

Brookshire has advanced arguments on issues that are not part of any claim in this matter and have not been added to the case by consent. In addition, Brookshire raised certain arguments for the first time in her Rule 59(e) motion.<sup>6</sup> Consequently, these arguments are not preserved for appellate review. *Commercial Credit Loans, Inc. v. Riddle*, 334 S.C. 176, 186, 512 S.E.2d 123, 129 (Ct. App. 1999); *Andrews v. von Elten & Walker, Inc.*, 315 S.C. 199, 201-02, 432 S.E.2d 500, 502 (Ct. App. 1993). In an abundance of caution, Community First will address these arguments substantively below, but the arguments at issue are as follows:

1. Brookshire argued for the first time at the December 13, 2016 summary judgment hearing that Hiott's transfer of stock held by Brookshire constituted "the actual bit of fraud" Community First "committed against Mrs. Brookshire." Dec. 13, 2016 Tr. pp. 82-83. Counsel for Hiott and Community First thereafter informed the trial court that "the stock is not in the

---

<sup>6</sup> Pursuant to Rules 208(b)(2) and 220(c), SCACR, as an additional sustaining ground, the trial court's denial of Brookshire's October 6, 2017 59(e) Motion was proper because Brookshire failed to "provide a copy of the motion to the judge within ten (10) days after the filing of the motion," as required in Rule 59(g), SCRCF. Brookshire's deadline to provide a copy of the 59(e) Motion to the trial judge was October 16, 2017. *See* Rule 6(a), SCRCF. However, Brookshire did not provide a copy of the 59(e) Motion to the trial judge until October 19, 2017. *See* Oct. 19, 2017, email, letter, and certificate of service. The time limits for motions under Rule 59, SCRCF "may not be extended" unless provided in that rule. Rule 6(b), SCRCF. No mechanism exists in Rule 59 to so extend this time period. Consequently, Brookshire's 59(e) Motion fails in its entirety for failure to comply with the jurisdictional rules of Rule 59, SCRCF. *See, e.g. Citizens & S. Nat'l Bank of S.C. v. Easton*, 310 S.C. 458, 460, 427 S.E.2d 640, 641 (1993) (applying Rule 6(b)'s prohibition on time extension to order made under Rule 59(d) and setting aside such order).

complaint.” *Id.* p. 84. Brookshire has never amended or even sought to amend her Complaint to contain any allegations about stock transfers in reference to any of her causes of action.

2. Brookshire first argued in her 59(e) Motion that Hiott’s position as a senior executive of Community First and the internal banking system that he was able to access in his employment capacity prevent or inhibit Community First from statutorily relying on the POA under S.C. Code Ann. § 62-5-501(F)(2). 59(e) Motion pp. 4-5.

3. Brookshire first argued in her 59(e) Motion that her cause of action for conversion encompasses Hiott’s purchases of stock. 59(e) Motion, pp. 5-6.

4. Brookshire first identified in her 59(e) Motion the alleged contract and the term allegedly breached in support of her cause of action for breach of contract accompanied by a fraudulent act. 59(e) Motion, pp. 7-8.

**B. Brookshire has offered no evidence to create a genuine issue of material fact on multiple arguments.**

Brookshire repeatedly fails to cite any admissible evidence for many of her claims. A genuine issue of material fact “can be created only by evidence which would be admissible at trial.” *Hansen v. DHL Labs., Inc.*, 316 S.C. 505, 510, 450 S.E.2d 624, 627 (Ct. App. 1994). Arguments of counsel, whether made in oral argument or in written briefs or memoranda, “ordinarily may not be considered by the court in determining whether a genuine issue of material fact exists.” *Higgins v. Med. Univ. of S.C.*, 326 S.C. 592, 599, 486 S.E.2d 269, 272 (Ct. App. 1997); *Gilmore v. Ivey*, 290 S.C. 53, 58, 348 S.E.2d 180, 183 (Ct. App. 1986). Community First will address these material deficiencies in the substantive areas in which they appear below.

**C. The trial court correctly found that Brookshire’s POA to Hiott bars her claims against Community First.**

The trial court properly granted summary judgment to Community First on all of Brookshire’s causes of action because she authorized Hiott to take all of the actions he did with

regard to the Account, and the law imposes no duty on Community First to monitor or regulate Hiott's activities and decisions undertaken pursuant to the POA. Brookshire gave Hiott the POA in his individual capacity to, among other things, conduct *all* of her financial affairs. The POA predated her Account at Community First and was not revoked until after the Account was finally closed. Brookshire authorized Hiott to make withdrawals from and deposits into the Account. She authorized him to open accounts, invest her assets, file her taxes, and "manage and conduct all of [her] affairs and to exercise all of [her] legal rights and powers." Ex. 9. The POA is unambiguous, and its interpretation is confined to the language used in the four corners of the document. *Watson v. Underwood*, 407 S.C. 443, 454-55, 756 S.E.2d 155, 161-62 (Ct. App. 2014).

Community First is not a party to the POA. Ex. 9. Community First, as a third party, has a statutory right to rely on powers of attorney and "does not incur liability to the principal or the principal's estate by reason of acting upon the authority of it or permitting the attorney-in-fact to exercise authority." S.C. Code Ann. § 62-5-501(F)(2)(a) (2009).<sup>7</sup> Further, Community First "is not required to inquire whether the attorney-in-fact has power to act or is properly exercising the power." *Id.* § 62-5-501(F)(2)(b). Nor is Community First "responsible to determine or ensure the proper application of assets, funds, or property belonging to the principal." *Id.* § 62-5-501(F)(2)(c). Further, Brookshire has conceded that the POA authorized *all* disbursements from the Account. Initial Brief, pp. 19, 21. This admission fully disposes of Brookshire's claims against Community First and confirms summary judgment to Community First.

Nevertheless, Brookshire advances several arguments on appeal that seek to obscure or dilute the actual contract-based relationships that govern the legal duties owed to Brookshire by

---

<sup>7</sup> The General Assembly comprehensively revised the statutory law regarding powers of attorney effective January 1, 2017. As this matter involves a power of attorney in effect from 2007 until 2011, the prior version of the statute is applicable and is the version referenced herein.

Hiott, on one hand, and by Community First, on the other hand. These arguments are untimely, devoid of evidence in support, or legally flawed, and are all premised on the erroneous assumption that Community First had some sort of duty to monitor Hiott's disbursements from the Account or inquire into the purpose behind the disbursements while Hiott was acting under the POA.

**1. The Account was never a trust account with Community First serving as a trustee for Brookshire**

Community First did not serve as a trustee for Brookshire. There is no documentary or testamentary evidence to support Brookshire's claim that the Account was a trust account. "[T]o prove the existence of a trust, the law requires the following elements to be shown: a declaration creating the trust, a trust *res*, and designated beneficiaries." *Whetstone v. Whetstone*, 309 S.C. 227, 231, 420 S.E.2d 877, 879 (Ct. App. 1992). Brookshire cannot show any of these with regard to her arrangement with Community First. Indeed, Brookshire knows how a trust is created—she created one in February 2005 with BB&T, with BB&T serving as trustee. Ex. 2. After expressing her dissatisfaction with BB&T's attempts to advise her on various financial matters (Exs. 7, 55, 56), among other concerns, Brookshire revoked her trust with BB&T (Ex. 8), and *that very same day* decided to go a different direction with the management of her finances and gave the POA to Hiott. Ex. 9. Unlike the written affirmation and declaration by BB&T that it was serving as trustee for Brookshire (Ex. 2), Community First has *never* represented in any way that Community First served as her trustee. Unlike with BB&T (Exs. 2, 5, p. CFB000347), Community First has never charged her trustee fees. *See* Exs. 3, 5 to Ex. 24. Unlike with BB&T (Exs. 2, 5, p. CFB000347), Brookshire herself is the trustee. *See* Exs. 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 to Ex. 24. There is no evidence whatsoever that Brookshire and Community First entered into a trust arrangement with Community First serving as a trustee. Without evidence, there cannot be a genuine issue of material fact to defeat summary judgment. *See Jackson*, 383 S.C. at 17, 677 S.E.2d at 616.

Ultimately, this is a case that boils down to what the contracts *actually say* that govern the relationships between Brookshire and Hiott on one hand and between Brookshire and Community First on the other. As a matter of public policy and law, Brookshire is charged with knowledge of and is bound by the terms of her written contracts. *Burwell v. S.C. Nat'l Bank*, 288 S.C. 34, 39, 340 S.E.2d 786, 789 (1986) (“One cannot complain of fraud and misrepresentation in the contents of a document if the truth could have been ascertained by reading it.”); *Regions Bank v. Schmauch*, 354 S.C. 648, 663-64, 582 S.E.2d 432, 440 (Ct. App. 2003). Here, those terms are the unambiguous terms of the POA and Account Agreement. Ex. 9; Ex. 24 at Ex. 7 thereto. In addition, under the UCC, Brookshire has a duty to obtain and review her Account statements – in essence she is charged with knowledge of the contents of her statements. *See infra* pp. 22-26.

The Account Agreement clearly and unambiguously states that the Account description is “Business Premium Investment Checking” and the owner/signer of the Account is “Debi Baker Brookshire Trustee.” Ex. 24, at Ex. 7. Brookshire contorts the plain language of the Account Agreement to argue that the typed words “Trust Accounts” somehow transforms the disclosed “Business Premium Investment Checking” Account into a trust account with Community First serving as trustee, yet completely fails to mention that the typed words “Trust Accounts” appears under the heading “Ownership of Account.” *Id.* The plain language of the Account Agreement and other Account opening documentation (Ex. A) show exactly what Community First has always maintained: this was a checking account opened in the name of and owned by a trust. *See Ex. 57*, pp. 50-51, 60-65, 67-71; Ex. 58, pp. 18-19. Brookshire’s monthly Account statements that Community First sent to her show that Brookshire herself was serving as trustee of the trust—not Community First. *See Exs. 3, 4, 5, 6 to Ex. 24.*

Contract language matters and controls this case. The POA states that Hiott is Brookshire’s attorney in fact. Ex. 9. Community First is not mentioned or even impliedly referenced in the POA, nor is Hiott’s profession as a banker. *Id.* Brookshire cannot create a trust account (or a genuine issue of material fact that she created a trust account) by assuming she had one. Brookshire’s assumption is wholly inconsistent with the actual agreements, the monthly Account statements, and the *voluminous* other documents showing that Hiott was acting as her attorney in fact under the POA in disbursing her money from the Account (along with keeping children for her, storing her motor home, negotiating her lease, and personally keeping \$500,000 worth of her jewelry and silver—hardly actions undertaken by someone acting as a banker). Not one document and not one piece of record evidence demonstrate that Community First was acting as a trustee for Brookshire. In fact, Brookshire’s own expert testified that Brookshire did not have a “trust account at Community First with the bank serving as a trustee,” nor is Brookshire’s expert “aware of any agreement where [Community First] undertook any trustee duties for [her.]” Ex. 60, pp. 116-17.

**2. Hiott’s employment at Community First does not give rise to any duties to Brookshire that dilute the authority Brookshire gave to Hiott in the POA.**

Community First does not owe any duties to Brookshire by virtue of Hiott’s employment there that dilute the authority Brookshire gave to Hiott in the POA. As it pertains to transactions from the Account and as the POA makes clear, Hiott was acting as *Brookshire’s* agent—not as an agent of Community First. Brookshire, however, argues that the actions Hiott undertook with Brookshire’s funds were motivated by a desire to benefit other Community First customers or account holders and that such motivation makes Community First responsible for his actions with regard to the Account. Thus, reasons Brookshire, Community First cannot statutorily rely on the POA as a third party under S.C. Code Ann. § 62-5-501(F)(2). Brookshire cites no actual evidentiary or legal authority for this assertion, and, indeed, there is no causal relationship between

Hiott's employment status and the disbursements Hiott was authorized to make from the Account. Under the plain language of the POA, Hiott could have made every transaction and payment from Brookshire's funds at any bank. The mechanics of how he did so are unrelated to the expansive grant of authority Brookshire voluntarily gave to Hiott in the POA and do not impact the ability of a third party (like Community First or any other bank, stock broker, or institution) to rely on the POA with the protections provided by South Carolina law. Under the plain terms of the POA, Brookshire—not Community First—was the master of the scope of authority she gave to Hiott.

Whether a given relationship gives rise to certain duties and the contours of those legal duties are questions of law for the court to decide. *Roe v. Bibby*, 410 S.C. 287, 293, 763 S.E.2d 645, 648 (Ct. App. 2014). As the POA and the Account Agreement are contracts, the court's role is to interpret these unambiguous contracts using the language found in the four corners of the respective documents to determine the duties owed to and by the parties to those contracts. *See Hawkins v. Greenwood Development Corp.*, 328 S.C. 585, 594, 493 S.E.2d 875, 879 (Ct. App. 1997). In the POA, Brookshire granted Hiott individually the authority to “[c]onduct any business with any banking or financial institution,” including “making deposits and withdrawals.” Ex. 9. Under this grant of authority, Community First had no right to control Hiott's decisions about how to spend Brookshire's funds. Brookshire voluntarily and openly ceded that control to Hiott—and Hiott alone—on May 25, 2007. The Account Agreement unambiguously sets forth the terms governing the relationship between Brookshire and Community First and contains no language to indicate that Community First is serving as a trustee for Brookshire or that Community First is exerting any control over the propriety of disbursements from the Account. Ex. 24 at Ex. 7.

### **3. Brookshire misrepresents Hiott's activities about which she complains.**

Brookshire states that Hiott, in conducting authorized business on her behalf, “utilize[ed] systems and practices that were contrary to accepted banking practice” and that “the existence of

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